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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

MONSTER ENERGY COMPANY, )
Plaintiff, )) Case No. 15 C 4166
V. ; JudgelJoanH. Lefkow
CHEN WENSHENG, et al., : )
Defendants. ;

OPINION AND ORDER

On May 12, 2015, Monster Energy Company (MEC) filed suit against Chinese entities
that have offered counterfeit Monster Emyeproducts for sale online (“defendantsd)leging
trademark counterfeiting and copyright infjement. (Dkt. 1.) MEC's five-count second
amended complaint brings claims for (1) willthdemark infringement and counterfeiting in
violation of section 32 of the Lanham Act, 159.C. § 1114; (2) willful false designation of
origin in violation of section 43 of the Lanhahket, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1125; (3) willful cybersquatting
in violation of section 43(d) of the Lanham At§ U.S.C. 8§ 1125(d); (4)iliful violation of the
lllinois Uniform Deceptive Trade Practices Act, 815 ILCS 8 Bil8eq.and (5) deliberate
copying of MEC'’s copyrighted designs in viotatiof the Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. § 501(a).
(Dkt. 53 (Second Am. Compl.) 11 34—62.) May 20, 2015, the court entered a temporary
restraining order (TRO) freezirdgfendants’ PayPal accounts.k{C22.) The court converted

the TRO to a preliminary injunction on My, 2015. (Dkt. 33.) Two defendants, Wu Zou

! Defendants are operating the Online Maplate Accounts and Defendant Domain Names
listed in Amended Schedule Atioe Second Amended ComplairBeedkt. 53. After MEC filed its most
recent amended complaint, it voluntardismissed numerous defendarssedkts. 62, 63, 64, 67, 71, 75,
81, 100) and the court ordered the dismissal of those defendeeatkis. 66, 103).
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d/b/a the Internet Store Legend Trading Ctd, (“Legend Trading”) and Zhang Yuan d/b/a
Internet Store mgxxc, have moved to dismisddok of personal jurisdiction under Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 12(b)(2) artd release the frozen fund@kts. 50, 57.) For the reasons
stated below, defendants’ motions are defied.
BACKGROUND®

In 2002, MEC launched its MONSTER ENER®Yrand of drinks bearing its now
famous MONSTER ENERGY mawdnd design. (Second Am. Compl. 15.) MEC is the owner
of numerous valid trademarksd(at 14—15.) In addition to its MONSTERIine of energy
drinks, MEC uses its Claw Icon mark, MONST®Rnark, MONSTER ENERGYmark, and
has copyrighted designs in connection withrge variety of produs, including stickers,
helmets, sports gear, clothing items, headgeat,sports bags (the Monster Energy Products).
(Id. 1 8;see alsalkt. 88 (Kingsland Dec.) § 4.) Due to #isbstantial and continuous marketing
and promotion, MEC's MONSTER family products have achied substantial commercial
success, with estimated retail sales exicep#l5 billion per year worldwide.SgeSecond Am.
Compl. 1 13.) MEC has also sold miltis of dollars’ worth of MEC’s MONSTE® family of
products to lllinois residents through brick andrtar accounts such as 7-Eleven, Walmart,
Costco, Sam’s Club, CVS, Target, and Circleadname a few. (Kingsland Dec. §7.) The
success of the Monster Energytmtchas resulted in isgnificant counterfiéing, giving rise to

the present claims.SéeSecond Am. Compl.  25.)

% The court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 188d 1367(a). Venue is proper in this district
under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).

% Unless otherwise noted, the following facts talen from the second amended complaint “with
every inference drawn in favor” of the plaintif€ent. States, Se. & Sw. Areas Pension Rurithencorp
Reins. Cq.440 F.3d 870, 878 (7th Cir.2006) (quotihgxtorv. Bd. of Regents of N. Ill. Unjv711 F.2d
1387, 1393 (7th Cir.1993)).



Legend Trading and mqgxxc created and opdratenmercial, fully interactive Internet
stores on the global marketpla&kExpress.com (AliExpress).ld. § 23;see alsalkts. 87 at 3,
892,92 at3, 94 9 2.) AliExpress is an Emglis\guage global retail marketplace for Chinese
sellers to target and sell to consumeasidwide. (Dkts. 87 at 3, 92 at 8ee alsalkts. 89, 94
(collectively, Martin Decs.) 1 5.) ThrougHiBxpress, Chinese sellers learn techniques for
targeting United States buyers. (Dkt. 98,(collectively, Fu Decs.) 1Y 21-22.)

Each defendant through its Internet storgdts and offers teell counterfeit Monster
Energy Products to consumers within the UnBgates, including Illinois. (Second Am. Compl.
1 23.) Defendants’ offers to sell consistddplaying photographs of counterfeit Monster
Energy Products and inviting potei buyers to buy productsritugh their Internet stores.
Then, defendants have the ordered geamipped to the United State§eé id35-36;see also
Martin Decs. { 6.) In creating their onliners&s, defendants affirrtigely select a shipping
template to ship their products, includinguaterfeit Monster Energy &ducts, to the United
States and lllinois. See id; see alsdartin Decs. 1Y 7-8u Decs. 1 3-14.)

ANALYSIS

PersonalJurisdiction

A. Legal Standard

Rule 12(b)(2) permits dismissal of a cldbased on lack of personal jurisdiction over the
defendant.SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(2). The padagserting personal jurisdiction bears the
burden of proof.SeePurdue Research Found. Sanofi—-Synthelabo, S,B38 F.3d 773, 782
(7th Cir. 2003). When the court rules on thetion without a hearinghe plaintiff need only
establish agrima faciecase of personglrisdiction.” Id. (quotingHyatt Int'l Corp.v. Cocq

302 F.3d 707, 713 (7th Cir. 2002)). The court widdd the complaint libeltg, in its entirety,



and with every inference dravum favor” of the plaintiff. Cent. States440 F.3d at 878 (quoting
Textor, 711 F.2d at 1393). Jurisdictidradlegations pled in the ocaplaint are accepted as true
unless proved otherwise bifidavits or exhibits. SeePurdue Research Foun®38 F.3d at 782.
But “once the defendant has submitted affidamitsther evidence in opposition to the exercise
of jurisdiction, the plaintiff must go beyondetipleadings and submit affirmative evidence
supporting the exercise of jurisdictionld. at 783. If any conflictarise between the plaintiff's
complaint (or supporting materials) and the defetidaffidavits or evidence, the plaintiff is
entitled to have those configcresolved in its favorld.

B. Court’'s Review of Personal Jurisdiction

Plaintiff asserts claims und#re Lanham Act, Copyright Acand lllinois statutory law.
Because neither the Lanham Act nor the Copyrgittauthorizes nationwide service of process,
a court sitting in lllinois may exercise juristdan over defendants only if authorized both by the
United States Constitution and lllinois lawe2 LLCv. lvanoy, 642 F.3d 555, 558 (7th Cir.
2011) (citing Fed. R. Civ. P 4(k)(1)(A) and tatg that the Lanham Act does not authorize
nationwide service)Tamburov. Dworkin, 601 F.3d 693, 700 (7th Cir. 2010) (sandanamark,
Inc. v. Reidy 132 F.3d 1200, 1201 (7th Cir. 1997) (Copyriglet does not authorize nationwide
service),abrogated on other grounds Bylvanced Tactical Ordinance, LLMC Real Action
Paintball, Inc, 751 F.3d 796 (7th Cir. 2014). The lllinoisgparm statute “permits its courts to
exercise personal jurisdiction on any basis permitted by the constitutions of both Illinois and the
United States.”ld.; 735 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/2-209(c). Accondgjly, “the state statory and federal
constitutional inquiries merge.Tamburg 601 F.3d at 700.

The key constitutional question is whethiee defendants have sufficient “minimum

contacts” with lllinois such that the suit “doest offend traditional notions of fair play and



substantial justice.Int’l Shoe Cov. Washington326 U.S. 310, 316, 66 S. Ct. 154, 90 L. Ed. 95
(1945) (internal quotations marks omitted). Tisab say, each defendamust have purposely
established minimum contacts with the foruatstsuch that he or she “should reasonably
anticipate being haledtim court” there.Burger King Corpv. Rudzewicz471 U.S. 462, 474,
105 S. Ct. 2174, 85 L. Ed. 2d 528 (1985) (quotatnamks omitted). A defendant cannot avoid
jurisdiction “merely because the defendant didptotsicallyenter the forum State.ld. at 476.
Indeed, as the Supreme Court has observesylsatantial amount of bBiness is transacted
solely by mail and wire communications acrossesliaes, thus obviating the need for physical
presence within a State in which business is conductdd.Nevertheless, “[p]otential
defendants should have some control over—eamthinly should not be surprised by—the
jurisdictional consequences$ their actions.”RAR, Incv. Turner Diesel, Ltd.107 F.3d 1272,
1278 (7th Cir.1997). The Due Process Clause “gdo@se minimum assurance as to where that
conduct will and will not render them liable to suit¥’orld-Wide Volkswagen Woodson,
444 U.S. 286, 297, 100 S. Ct. 559, 62 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1980).

Under the lllinois long-arm statute, persbjuaisdiction may be general or specific.
uBid, Inc.v. GoDaddy Grp., Ing 623 F.3d 421, 425 (7th Cir. 2010). MEC does not argue that
the court has general jurisdiction. Accordinghg court turns to whigér it has specific
jurisdiction over defendants.

1. Specific Jurisdiction

Specific jurisdiction grows out of “the relationship among the defendant, the forum, and

the litigation.” Waldenv. Fiore, U.S. , 134 S. Ct. 1115, 188 L. Ed. 2d 12 (2014)
(quotingKeetonv. Hustler Magazine, In¢465 U.S. 770, 775, 104 S. Ct. 1473, 79 L. Ed. 2d 790

(1984)). Specific jurisidtion requires that “(1) the defenaehas purposefully directed his



activities at the forum state or purposefidiyailed himself of therivilege of conducting
business in that state, and (B¢ alleged injury ases out of the defendant's forum-related
activities.” N. Grain Mktg., LLCv. Greving 743 F.3d 487, 492 (7th Cir. 2014) (quoting
Tamburqg 601 F.3d at 701). “The exercise of sfiegurisdiction must also comport with
traditional notions of fair play and substantial justickd’ (citing Tamburqg 601 F.3d at 702).

a. Minimum Contacts — WhetherDefendant’s Activities Were
Purposefully Directed At Illinois

Whether a defendant has purposefully direeted/ities at a forum “dpends in large part
on the type of claim at issueFellandv. Clifton, 682 F.3d 665, 674 (7th Cir.2012). Where the
plaintiff's claims are for intentional torts, as héége inquiry “focusesn whether the conduct
underlying the claims was purposelyatited at the forum stateld. at 674 (quotingamburq
601 F.3d at 702). In this contexqurts apply the “express aimgj test” and look to whether the
defendant engaged in “(1) intentional conductif@entional and allegdly tortious’ conduct);

(2) expressly aimed at the forum state; (3) wiith defendant's knowledgfeat the effects would
be felt—that is, the plaintiff wodlbe injured—in the forum stateTamburqg 601 F.3d at 703
(citing Calderv. Jones 465 U.S. 783, 789-90, 104 S. Ct. 1482, 79 L. Ed. 2d 804 (198%))e
defendant’s conduct and connection with the fiostate must be substantial enough to make it

reasonable for the defendant to anticipate lieatould be haled into court theré\’ Grain

4 “Infringement of a trademark is a tortDakota Indus., Incv. Dakota Sportswear, Inc.
946 F.2d 1384, 1388 (8th Cir.199%ge also Louis Vuitton Malletier, S\A.Mosserj 736 F.3d 1339,
1353 (11th Cir. 2013)Chloév. Queen Bee of Beverly Hills, LL.616 F.3d 158, 171 (2d Cir.2010)
(“Trademark infringement is ... a tort.’Polar Bear Prods., Incv. Timex Corp.384 F.3d 700, 720 (9th
Cir.2004) (“[T]rademark infringemergenerally sounds in tort.”).

® Courts have applied tf@alder“express aiming test” in cases involving intentional torts,
including trademark infringementee, e.g., Medline Indus., Inc.Strategic Commercial Sols., Inc.
553 F. Supp. 2d 979 (N.D. Ill. 2008 uromarket Design, Ina.. Crate & Barrel Ltd, 96 F. Supp. 2d 824
(N.D. lll. 2000);see also Virgin Enter. Ltd. Jai Mundi, Inc, No.13 C 8339, 2014 WL 3605541, at *5
(N.D. lll. July 18, 2014) (explaing that it was unnecessary to apfiglders express aiming test in this
trademark infringement case because defendant’s “actual (as opposed to imputed) contacts with Illinois
were sufficient to support the exercidfespecific personal jurisdiction”).
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Mktg., 743 F.3d at 492. In other words, “thaipltiff cannot be the only link between the
defendant and the forum. Rather, it is theeddant’s conduct that must form the necessary
connection with the forum State thathe basis for its jurisdiction over himWalden 134 S.
Ct. at 1122 (citations omitted).

I. Intentional and Tortious Conduct

Section 32 of the Lanham Act creates a cigiht of action for trademark infringement
and counterfeiting. Under thegoh language of 15 U.S.C. § 1114, adfer to sell an infringing
or counterfeit item, even without any otlativity, establishes Iility for trademark
infringement and counterfeitind.evi Strausw. Shilon 121 F.3d 1309, 1312 (9th Cir. 1997);
Chloe SAS. Sawabeh Information Servs. Chlo. cv 11-04147, 2014 WL 4402218, at *6 (C.D.
Cal. Sept. 5, 2014). Displaying photos of an item for sale and invitiregioe purchasers to
place an order and buy the product through &riet store is an offer for sal&ee Milo &
Gabby, LLCv. Amazon.comNo. C13-1932, 2015 WL 4394673,*a4 (W.D. Wash. July 16,
2015);cf. MEMC Elec. Materials Inos. Mitsubishi Materials Silicon Corp420 F.3d 1369,
1376 (Fed. Cir. 2005) (concluding that letteratttonveyed “a descriph of the allegedly
infringing merchandise and the price at whicbah be purchased” could be regarded as an
“offer to sell” under 35 U.S.C. § 271(a)).

Here, one of MEC’s numerous exhibits fileith the court illustra that Legend Trading
made an offer to sell when it displayed phaibbiker gloves with Monster Energy’s trademark
for sale at $8.99 with 8991 pieces and thrdersavailable on its Internet stor&eedkt. 27-7.;
see alsdMartin Decs. 1 10.) Similarly, anothereonf MEC'’s exhibits lustrates that mgxxc
made an offer to sell when it displayed photoMohster Energy graphic sticker decals for sale

at $39.99 with 999 pieces availalole its Internet store.Sgedkt. 27-8;see alsdvartin Decs.



1 10.) Defendants invite potential purchagernglace orders and buy products through their
Internet stores, and MEC'’s exhibits show thialieast two individuald,isa Cho and Gigi Ah,

with lllinois shipping addressegtempted to purchase coun&gtiMonster Energy biker gloves
from Legend Trading, and at least one individiigkonn Chen, with an lllinois shipping address
attempted to purchase couriétr Monster Energy sticker decals from mgxx&eédkts. 27-7,
27-8;see alsMartin Decs. 11 7, 10, 11.) MEC'’s Ekiti2-17 also includes an email
conversation between Ah and Zou in which Poavides Ah with Legend Trading’s PayPal
account and indicates that she pay for her order via PayPalSdedkts. 27-7see alsdMartin
Decs. 1 11.) Similarly, MEC’s Exhibit 2-18 incles a conversation between Chen and Yuan in
which Yuan provides Chen with mgxxc’s PayBatount number anddictates that Chencan

pay for the Monster decal stickers: a specific PayPal accounSeedkts. 27-8see alsdMartin
Decs. § 11.) As such, defendants’ offers tbcgminterfeit Monster Energy Products on their
Internet stores constitute tortious activityrooitted in lllinois sufficient to establish personal
jurisdiction over both defendés in this court.See Dental Arts Lab., Ing. Studio 360 The

Dental Lab, LLC No. 10 C 4535, 2010 WL 4877708, at *7.INIIl. Nov. 23, 2010) (“As long

as one tortious act is committed in lllinois, ttwurts of the state, and thus this Court, may
exercise personal jurisdion over Defendant.”)see also Steuben Foods, IacOystar USA

2012 WL 1854642, at *2 (W.D.N.YMay 21, 2012) (citing téloubigant, Incv. ACB

Mercantile, Inc, 914 F. Supp. 964, 979-80 (S.D.N.Y 1995) (“Offering one copy of an infringing
work for sale in New York, even if therens actual sale, constitutes commission of a tortious

act within the state sufficient to imbue ti@surt with personglrisdiction.”).



il. Express Aiming at the Forum State

“[A] defendant's intentional tort creates the requisiteimum contactsvith a state only
when the defendamixpressly aimgs actions at the state withe knowledge that they would
cause harm to the plaintiff thereMobile Anesthesiologists Chicago, LixCAnesthesia
Associates of Houston Metroplex, R.823 F.3d 440, 445 (7th Cir. 2010) (emphasis added).
This court has characterized the express aimstgaaequire a showg of “injury plus.”
Telemedicine Solutions LLC WoundRight Techs., LLQ7 F. Supp. 3d 883, 895 (N.D. Ill. Mar.
14, 2014). That s, the plaintifitust demonstrate not only thtae defendant’s tortious act
injured him in the forum state, but that the aefent acted specifically twarm the plaintiff in
the forum stateSee id.

Citing Alcar Group, Incv. Corporate Performance Sy4.09 F. Supp. 2d 948, 949 (N.D.
lll. 2000), defendants argue that infringing sadéroad via their websites do not create the
necessary minimum contacts since the Lanham Achhaextraterritorialeach. Defendants’
contentions wholly disregard MEs claim that defendants offet¢o sell counterfeit Monster
Energy Products to individuals with Illinois shipping addresses, rather than alleging sales by
defendants abroad. Kcar Group the issue was whether theuet had jurisdiction over a
foreign citizen’sactivity in a foreign country Alcar Group 109 F. Supp. 2d at 951. Here, the
issue is whether the court has persqurdsdiction over a foreign citizen'activity in the United
States As suchAlcar Groupis inapposite.

Defendants also argue that their interactiebsites alone are not sufficient to establish
minimum contacts. (Dkt. 51 at 3 (quotiAglvanced Tactical’51 F.3d at 803 (“The operation
of an interactive website does not show thatdbfendant has formed a contact with the forum

state.”)).) MEC does not disputeat an interactive websiteoale would be insufficient but



argues that defendants created and operated itwerdtternet stores and affirmatively selected
a shipping option to ship counteit Monster Energy Products tiee United States, including to
lllinois residents. (Martin DecqY 7-8.) As such, MEC arguestlhe facts here are directly
analogous tdllinois v. Hemi Group, LLC622 F.3d 754 (7th Cir. 2010§Dkt. 87 at 10.) The
court agrees.

In Hemi Group the defendant was sued by the State of Illinois for selling cigarettes to
lllinois residents irviolation of federadand state lawHemi Grp. LLC 622 F.3d at 755. The
court inHemi Groupfound that it had personal juristian over defendants because they
operated a nationwide business model whereititeptionally created and operated several
commercial, interactive websites to offer proddotssale and allow online orders from lllinois
residents.Hemi Grp. LLC 622 F.3d at 757-58. The SeventhcGit explained that, “[a]lthough
listing all forty-nine states by name would hamade a stronger case for jurisdiction in this
case, . . . the net result iesthame—Hemi stood ready and willing to do business with lllinois
residents.”Id. at 758. As such, the court held tepecific jurisdiction is proper where a
company “h[olds] itself out as open to do busgesth every state” and is “ready and willing to
do business with [thatatie’s] residents.”

Similarly, in this case, defendants intentally created and operated commercial, fully
interactive AliExpress Internet storesahgh which consumers can purchase counterfeit
Monster Energy Products. In creating their amktores, defendants affirmatively selected a
shipping template to ship counterfeit Mondimergy Products to United States and lllinois
residents. (Martin Decs. 1 7-s&e alsd-u Decs. 11 3—14.) As astdt, defendants expressly
elected to do business withe residents of all fiftgtates, including lllinoisSee Hemi Grp.

LLC, 622 F.3d at 75&ee alsaBid, 623 F.3d at 428 (“[I]t is egdo infer that GoDaddy’s

10



national marketing campaign is intended to reekarge an audience as possible, including the
13 million potential customers in the natisriifth most populous state [(lllinois).]”)

Defendants also argue that the court lacksopeigurisdiction because no sale was made
to an lllinois resident (Dkt. 52 § 7; Dkt. 59  5), and MEC has presented no evidence that either
Cho or Chen is even located ifilbis. (Dkt. 51 at 4.) First, asdicated above, an offer to sell
infringing or counterfeit items establishes liability for trademark infringement, a tortious act, and
“[a]s long as one tortious act is committed in Ilimthe courts of the state, and thus this Court,
may exercise personal jurisdiction over Defendddehtal Arts Lab.2010 WL 4877708, at *7.

As such, defendants did not need to complet@ato imbue Illinois courts with personal
jurisdiction. Second, there is narerement that MEC or the pexrs placing the order reside in
lllinois in order for this court thiave jurisdiction over defendantgé/alden 134 S. Ct. at 1121—
22 (“The inquiry whether a forum State may assert specific jurisdiction over a nonresident
defendant focuses on ‘the relationsaipong the defendant, the forum, and the

litigation.’ . . . [O]ur ‘minimumcontacts’ analysis looks to tliefendant’s contacts with the
forum State itself, not the defemda contacts with persons wineside there.”) MEC'’s claims
against defendants are based on defendantssdffesell counterfeit Monster Energy products
through their interactive tarnet store, which allows onlinedars to be placed and shipped to
lllinois addresses. MEC, throug@s exhibits and affidavits, hadleged that aleast on one
occasion Zou (on behalf of Legend Tradiogjnmunicated with a buyer who had placed an
order to purchase counterfeit Monster EndPgyducts, asked the buyer for the order number
which clearly reflected an lllinois shipping adds, and provided his PayPal account number for
the buyer to make the payment for the iteBedDkt. 27-7;see alsdMartin Decs. T 11.)

Similarly, MEC’s exhibits and affidavits allegeatthat least on one occasion Yuan (on behalf of

11



mqgxxc) communicated with a buyer who wishegblmce an order on counterfeit Monster sticker
decals and provided his PayPal account nurfdsehe buyer to purchase the itenSeédkt. 27-

8; see alsdMartin Decs.  11.) It ithese tortious acts on which MEC basis its argument that
lllinois has specific jurisdictionSee Dental Arts Lab2010 WL 4877708, at *7 (“As long as

one tortious act is committed iritlois, the courts of the stateycthus this Court, may exercise
personal jurisdiction over Defendant.”)

Defendants also claim that it is insufficiéatrely on defendants’ andom, fortuitous, or
attenuated contacts” or on thenilateral activity” of MEC. (Dkt. 51 at 5.) First, Legend
Trading’s actions are not “randofioytuitous, or attenuad contacts.” It isrue that in the
Internet context, there is no specific jurisdctiwhere the defendantentacts with the forum
state are “entirely fortuitous.Advanced Tactical751 F.3d at 803 (no specific personal
jurisdiction over defendant that maintained ematldillowing it to send email to past customers,
even though some happened to be in forum st&a) where a company “h[olds] itself out as
open to do business with every state” and is “readty/willing to do business with [that state’s]
residents,” specific jurisdimon over it is proper.Hemi Grp. LLG 622 F.3d at 758 (internet
seller of cigarettes subject to specific persgurgsdiction in Illinois where lllinois residents
purchase cigarettes online and sellentshipped cigarettes to lllinoigge also Valtech, LLZ
18" Ave. Toys LtdNo. 14 C 134, 2015 WL 603854, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 12, 20Pa)tonv.
Kale RealtyNo. 13 C 8002, 2014 WL 4214917, at *4 (NID. Aug. 26, 2014). Moreover, in
2011 the court ieckers Corpv. Does 1-500ound that personal jurisdiction existed over
China-based defendants ogarg commercial, interactive Internstiores to offer to sell and to
sell counterfeit products to the Uit States, including lllinoisDeckers Corpv. Does 1-500

No. 1:11 CV 00010, 2011 WL 4929036, at *3.INIIl. Oct. 14, 2011). SincBeckers Corp.

12



numerous cases, within thissttict alone, have exercisedigdiction over defendants operating
commercial, interactive Internet stores offeriagell counterfeit products to the United States,
including lllinois. Seedkt. 87 at 8; Marh Decs.  14.)

Second, it is misleading to ekify the offer to sell aa “unilateral activity” by the

plaintiff. See Hemi Grp. LL322 F.3d at 758. IHemi Group the court explained that

[c]haracterizing the sales as unilaleis misleading, . . . because it
ignores several of Hemi's own act®that led up to and followed
the sales. . .. It is Hemi reanbi out to residents of lllinois, and

not the residents reaching backhat created the sufficient
minimum contacts with lllinois tt justify exercising personal
jurisdiction over Hemi in lllinois.

Id. Here, defendants intentionally created and ajeelrcommercial, fully interactive Internet
stores and affirmatively selext a shipping template to shepunterfeit Monster Energy
Products to United States anbihibis residents. (Martin Dec§Y 7-8.) Further, MEC provides
exhibits that include conversatis in which defendants providdrbis buyers with their PayPal
account information in order to complete theurchase. (Dkts. 27-7, 27-8.) Thus, it was
defendants’ reaching out to lllinois residentattbreated the sufficient minimum contacts with
lllinois.

Defendants further argue thtte alleged offer is invalidince it was induced by fraud”
and that the MEC “cannot point #osingle valid offer to sell anfiinging product into lllinois.”
(Dkt. 51 at 5.) Defendants’ argument comgietaisses the mark. Here, MEC claims that
defendants committed tortious acts by offeringat counterfeit Monster Energy Products and
that such offers to sell took place the monaefendants displayed photographs of counterfeit
Monster Energy Products for sale and invited potential buyers, ingllitinois buyers, to place
orders and buy products thugh their Internet storeSee Milo & Gabby2015 WL 4394673, at

*14. Defendants do not provide any evidenceuggest that they weraduced by fraud to post

13



images of counterfeit Monster Energy Prodwstd invite potential Illinois buyers to place
orders and buy counterfeit products.

Lastly, defendants attempt to analogize this cagelt@nced Tactical There, the
Seventh Circuit found that “it [was] unlikely thitose few sales alone, without some evidence
linking them to the allegedly tortious activity, would make jurisdiction propaAd¥ance
Tactical 751 F.3d at 801. In other words, plainpfbvided “no evidence that those sales had
any connection with this litigation.Td. By contrast, here, ME provides evidence that
defendants offered to sell coernfeit Monster Energy Producteedkts. 27-7, 27-8, and MEC
bases its claims on that specific tortious conafi¢offering to sell” counterfeit product in
violation of the Lanham Act. Based on ME@Hidavits and supporting materials, the court
finds Legend Trading expresslynad its action at Illinois.

iii. Defendant’s Knowledge That the Effects Would be Felt
in the Forum State

To establish minimum contacts a defendanstmot only “expressly aim” its actions at
the state but must do so “with tkeowledge that [it] would caudearm to the plaintiff there.”
Mobile Anesthesiologists Chicagé?3 F.3d at 445. Here, the Director of Global Brand
Protection & Corporate Investagjons of Monster Energy Company, Bruce Kingsland, proffers
that MEC uses its registered trademarks @myrights on and in connection with the creation
and distribution of a large viaty of products, ioluding but not limited to, energy drinks,
stickers, clothing items, helmets, headgear, speas, and sports bags. (Kingsland Dec. { 4.)
Kingsland also states that “millions of dollars’ worth of MEC’s MONST® family of
products have been sold to lllinois residentsuligh brick and mortar accounts such as 7-Eleven,
Walmart, Costco, Sam'’s Club, CVS, Targatd Circle K, to name a few.'ld( 1 7.) Based on

MEC'’s considerably largsales in lllinois, the fact that lllois is the fifth most populous state,

14



and the fact that counterfeit sales lowerntaket share of the rights holder, MEC has
established by a preponderancehaf evidence that defendants wniat in targeting consumers
in the United States the effects of its itmus acts would likely be felt in lllinois.
b. Relatedness — Whether MEC’s Glim Arose Out Of Such Activities

The court’s conclusion that tlndants’ conduct was “purposelyrected” at lllinois does
not end the jurisdictional inquiry. For the cotortexercise specific jusdiction over defendants,
MEC'’s claims must “arise out of” or “relate” defendants’ contas with lllinois. RAR, Inc.,
107 F.3d at 1277—-78. This requirement is satisfied here. Asrm Group MEC'’s claims arise
out of defendants’ forum-relateactivities and contacts witHiHois residents. Defendants
offered to sell counterfeit Monster Energy#@hucts on its AliIExpress Internet store to
individuals with lllinois addresses. Suchians constitute tortious activity committed in
lllinois, and defendants’ actiorssirrounding those offers triggered MEC'’s claims against it.
Accordingly, MEC'’s claims arise directly oaf the defendants’ coatts with lllinois.

C. Fairness — Whether Specific Jugdiction is Consistent with
Traditional Notions of Fair Play and Substantial Justice

Finally, the court must consider whethee #fxercise of personal jurisdiction over
defendants would offend traditional notiondfaif play and substantial justic&ee N. Grain
Mktg., 743 F.3d at 492 (quotingt'l Shoe 326 U.S. at 316). The faxt considered are “the
burden on the defendant, the forum State’s inténestljudicating the dpute, the plaintiff's
interest in obtaining convenient and effectiveaklihe interstate judicial system’s interest in
obtaining the most efficient resaion of controversies, and tlshared interest of the several
States in furthering fundamentalbstantive social policiesFelland 682 F.3d at 677 (quoting
Burger King 471 U.S. at 477). “These factors hamill justify a determination against

personal jurisdiction.”Purdue Research Foun®38 F.3d at 781 n.10.
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While defendants may be burdened by havindgi@nd an action in this state, “out-of-
state defendantdwaysface such a burdenFelland 682 F.3d at 677 (emphasis in original).
Notably, despite any potential claims of hardshgfendants have alreadstained local counsel
and engaged in motion practice in this co@ee Jackson. N'Genuity Enterprises, Cp2014
WL 4269448 (2014) (finding, in part, that exerogsipersonal jurisdiction over the defendant did
not run afoul of traditional notions of fair playnd substantial justicghere the defendant had
been litigating the related 2009 suit in this forand had retained attorneys in the forum).
Moreover, modern transportatiamd communications have matenuch less burdensome for a
party to defend itself in a statiéhere he derives economic batsfand it usually will not be
unfair to subject him to the burdens of litigating in another for8or.ger King 471 U.S. at 474.
Furthermore, Illinois has an interest in proteg lllinois consumers frorbeing deceived into
purchasing counterfeit MonstEnergy Products. Thus, exesicig personal jurisdiction over
defendants does not run afoul of traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.

Il. Freezing of Property under Party’s Control

“Once personal jurisdiction of a party is alvted, the District Gurt has authority to
order it to ‘freeze’ property undés control, whether the proggrbe within or without the
United States.”United Statey. First Nat. City Bank379 U.S. 378, 384, 85 S. Ct. 528,

13 L. Ed. 2d 365 (1965%ee alsdsucci Am., Incv. Weixing Lj 768 F.3d 122, 129 (2d Cir.
2014);DeWitt, Porter, Huggett, Schumacher & Morgan, S.ovalic, No. 94-2545, 1995 WL
375869, at *2 (7th Cir. 1995Fed. Trade Comm™w. Windermere Big Win Int'l, IncNo.

98 C 8066, 1999 WL 608715, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 5, 1999). On issuing the TRO and
preliminary injunction in this case, the cbtound that it had geonal jurisdiction over

defendants “since the defendants clisetarget their business activities towards consumers in the
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United States, including lllinois.” Seedkts. 22, 33.) On reviewing defendants’ motion to
dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, tlzisurt once again has concluded that it has personal
jurisdiction over defendants. As such, the fuocdstained in defendants’ PayPal accounts will
remain frozen.See Lorillard Tobacco Ce. Montrose Wholesale Candje2005 WL 3115892,
at *13 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 8, 2005) (citingsrupo Mexicano de Desarrollo S. Alliance Bond
Fund, Inc, 527 U.S. 308, 325 (1999)).

A. Dissolving the Injunction and Funds Unrelated to Infringement

Defendants argue that even if this court pasonal jurisdiction to freeze its assets, the
court should dissolve the injunction becal#eC cannot show likelihood of success on the
merits or irreparable harm. (Dkts. 51 at 7a58—7.) This court, however, already found that
MEC showed a likelihood of saess on the merits and irredaleaharm. (Dkt. 33 at 5.)
Defendants have not provided evidence to counter such a finding, and thus, this court will not
dissolve the injunction.

Defendants also argue that the court showddify the injunction tdimit the seizure to
an amount corresponding to the products alleged to have been offered for sale, rather than the
seizure of their entirPayPal account. (Dkts. 51 at 10, 5®8a10.) The court declines to modify
the injunction at this time. To exempt assetsflan asset freeze, “[t]Hmirden is on the party
seeking relief to present documentary proof gaaticular assets [draot the proceeds of
counterfeiting activities.”Luxottica USA LLG/. The Partnership, et alNo. 1:14-cv-09061,
2015 WL 3818622 (N.D. IllJune 18, 2015) (citinl. Face Apparel Corpz. TC Fashions, Ing.
No. 05 CIV. 9083(RMB), 2006 WL 838993, at *3 (S\NDY. Mar. 30, 2006)). Defendants have
not submitted any evidence regarding their PagPabunt transactions to show that these funds

are not the proceeds of coarfeiting activities.
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B. Increasing Bond Amount

Defendants also argue that even if the tdaes not dissolve ¢hinjunction, it should
require MEC to post a larger bond in the amount of at least $5,000 per defendant. Defendants
argue that the court shoulitrease the bond because they@me of hundreds of defendants
whose businesses grounded to i th@ moment their PayPal accounts were frozen, and thus, the
$10,000 bond the court previously ordered MEC tpipansufficient. MEC responds that the
court properly required MEC to post a bondb@D,000 because of the strong and unequivocal
nature of MEC'’s evidence.

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 65@)ourt may issue a preliminary injunction
“only if the movant gives secity in an amount that the couwrbnsiders proper to pay the costs
and damages sustained by any party found to hese Wwrongfully enjoined or restrained.” Fed.
R. Civ. P. 65(c). The purpose of an injunctimnd is to compensate the defendant, in the event
he prevails on the merits, for the harm thatrgunction entered beforthe final decision caused
him. Ty, Inc.v. Publications Intern. Ltd.292 F.3d 512, 516 (7th Cir. 2002). The appropriate
amount of the bond is subject to the d¢mudiscretion. Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(6ateway E. Ry.
Co.v. Terminal R.R. Ass'n of St. Lous§ F.3d 1134, 1141 (7th Cir.1994). But, because the
damages caused by an erroneous prelimingupdtion cannot exceed the amount of the bond
posted as security, and because an errortimgéhe bond too high is not serious, the court of
appeals has stated that didticourts should err on the high side when setting a bSed.
Habitat Educ. Centev. U.S. Forest Servg07 F.3d 453, 456 (7th Cir.2010). On granting the
TRO and preliminary injunction, the courtdered MEC to deposit $10,000 as security, an
amount consistent with bondsquired in similar casesSee, e.gBurberry Limited, et alv. Su

Sheng, et alNo. 1:15-cv-02851 (N.D. lll. May 27, 2015) ($10,000 boBats Electronics,

18



LLC v. The Partnerships, et alNo. 1:14-cv-05209 (N.DIll Oct. 7, 2014) ($10,000 bond);
Calvin Klein Trademark Trust, et al. The Partnerships, et alNo. 1:13-cv-08186 (N.D. Ill.
Jan. 14, 2014) ($10,000 bondyue Religion Apparel, Ina.. Does 1-100No. 12-cv-9894 (N.D.
lll. Dec. 20, 2012) ($10,000 bond)pry Burch LLCv. Zhong Feng, et alNo. 1:12-cv-09066
(N.D. lll. Nov. 15, 2012) ($10,000 bond)eckers Outdoor Corp.. Does 1-1,281No.
1:12-cv-01973 (N.D. lll. Apr. 4, 2012) ($10,000 bondjow, Legend Trading seeks to persuade
the court that the bond amount should be increased.

“A party may move the court to increase or decrease the amount afysecdong as the
restraint or injunction ig effect.” 13 Moore'$~ederal Practice—Civil § 65.56¢e also
Gateway 35 F.3d at 1142 (noting “that it is withinetlllistrict court's discretion to increase or
decrease the amount as necessary to comygbritg/findings, or to account for changed
circumstances”)t.aboratory Corp. of America Holdings Kearns No. 1:14 CV 1029, 2015 WL
413788, at *16 (M.D.N.C. Jan. 30, 2015) (explaining tehabuld either party conclude that a
different figure would be propgit may move for adjustmenf the bond amount while the
preliminary injunction is still in effect”).The burden of establishinge bond amount rests with
the party to be restrained, who is in the besitjposto determine the harm it will suffer from a
wrongful restraint.In re President Casinos, In860 B.R. 262, 266 (B.A.P. 8th Cir. 200APR
Energy, LLCv. First Inv. Grp. Corp, No. 3:14-CV-575-J-34JBT, 2015 WL 736275, at *17
(M.D. Fla. Feb. 20, 2015Rhilips Electronics N. Am. Corp. Hope,631 F.Supp.2d 705, 724
n. 14 (M.D.N.C.2009)int'l Equity Investments, Inw. Opportunity Equity Partners Ltd.,

441 F. Supp. 2d 552, 566 (S.D.N.Y. 2006j.d, 246 Fed. App’x 73 (2d Cir. 2007). Here,
defendants allege that theungtion seized its PayPal funihsthe amount of $14,278 (Legend

Trading) and $11,744.89 (mgxxc), and that thetteusand dollar $10,000 bond is insufficient
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to compensate all defendants where possibly millions of dollars have been frozen. But, in their
request to increase the bond, defensigpresent nothing more tharfserving affidavits with no
supporting evidence to justify such an increaSe/en their better position to assess the damage
that might result from having their PayPal acdsurozen, defendants should have provided
affidavits or other evidence totablish the financial damage it would suffer from the injunction
during the pendency of the caseeeManpower Incv. Mason 377 F. Supp. 2d 672, 681 (E.D.
Wis. 2005) (declining to require a $20 millibond where the restrained party provided no
evidence to support that this amount was aomasle expectation dhe pecuniary harm it
would suffer due to the injunction). It has nohd®so. As such, the court will not increase the
bond amount. Defendants, however, may applafoond increase in the future if they can
produce competent evidence of the pecuniary harm they may reasonably expect to suffer on
account of this injunction.
CONCLUSION AND ORDER
For these reasons, defendants’ motionssmidis and to release frozen funds (dkts. 50,

57) are denied.

Date: September 29, 2015 /% | ﬁi ? #e

v

U.S. District Judge
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